THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM FLORENCE COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

The Honorable H. Steven DeBerry, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-001182

The State,

Respondent,

v.

Antonio Denon Brayboy,

Appellant.

AMENDED FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Ralph J. Wilson, Jr.
Lauren K. Anderson
Post Office Box 349
Myrtle Beach, SC 29578
(843) 488-1013
Attorneys for Appellant

RECEIVED

May 12 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE TRIAL ERR IN RULING APPELLANT DID NOT HAVE AN EXPECTATION OF PRIVACY IN HIS CELL PHONE RECORDS AND THE CSLI, THAT THERE WAS PROBABLE CAUSE FOR THE ISSUANCE OF THE SEARCH WARRANT, PARTICULARLY WHERE THE VAGUE ALLEGATIONS DID NOT EVEN STATE WHAT, IF ANY, CRIME APPELLANT ALLEGEDLY COMMITTED.
2. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN ALLOWING EVIDENCE OF SKIPTHEGAMES AND SPOTLIGHT TO BE SUBMITTED TO THE JURY WITHOUT PROPER AUTHENTICATION.
3. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT AS THERE WAS NO CORROBORATING EVIDENCE PRESENTED AND FURTHER INADMISSIBLE EVIDENCE WAS PUT IN FRONT OF THE JURY.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 27, 2020, Appellant Antonio Denon Brayboy was arrested and charged with murder and possession of a weapon during violent crime, if not also sentenced to life without parole or death. The grand jury for Florence County issued an indictment against Appellant on November 23, 2021, for murder and possession of a weapon during violent crime, if not also sentenced to life without parole or death. (Indictment 2021-GS-21-02508 and 2021-GS-21-02507). Appellant was tried on the murder and possession of a weapon during violent crime, if not also sentenced to life without parole or death.

A trial was held at the Florence County Courthouse in Florence, South Carolina from July 17, 2023 to July 20, 2023, with the Honorable Steven H. DeBerry presiding. Prior to the beginning of the trial, Judge DeBerry held a hearing in regard to Appellant's pretrial motion. Judge DeBerry heard Appellant's Motion to Suppress Cell Phone records pursuant to State v. Gibbs and Carpenter v. United States.

On July 20, 2023, the jury convicted Appellant of murder and possession of a weapon during violent crime, if not also sentenced to life without parole or death in violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-03-10 and S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-490. R. Vol. 3, p. 583, lines 3-10. Judge DeBerry sentenced Appellant to fifty (50) years in prison for murder conviction and five (5) years in prison for the possession of a weapon during violent crime, if not also sentenced to life without parole or death conviction to run consecutive R. Vol. 1, pp. 0001-0004, Vol. 3, p. 0604 line 21-p. 0604, line 3.

Appellant timely filed a notice of appeal on October 20, 2021.

ARGUMENTS

- I. THE COURT INCORRECTLY RULED APPELLANT DID NOT HAVE AN EXPECTATION OF PRIVACY IN HIS CELL PHONE RECORDS AND THE CSLI, THAT THERE WAS PROBABLY CAUSE FOR THE ISSUANCE OF THE SEARCH WARRANT, PARTICULARLY WHERE THE VAGUE ALLEGATIONS DID NOT EVEN STATE WHAT, IF ANY, CRIME APPELLANT ALLEGEDLY COMMITTED.

Standard of Review

The appellate courts are bound by fact findings in response to motions preliminary to trial when the findings are supported by the evidence and not clearly wrong or controlled by error of law. Reed v. Becka, 333 S.C. 676, 685, 511 S.E.2d 396, 401 (Ct. App. 1999) (citing State v. Amerson, 311 S.C. 316, 320, 428 S.E.2d 871, 873 (1993)). In Fourt Amendment search and seizure cases, the standard of review is limited to the following:

The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion. An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support. When reviewing a Fourth Amendment search and seizure cases, an appellate court must affirm if there is any evidence to support the ruling. The appellate court will reverse only when there is a clear error.

State v. Wright, 391 S.C. 436, 442, 706 S.E.2d 324, 326 (2011) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). This deference does not bar the appellate courts from conducting their own record to determine whether the trial judge's decision is supported by the evidence. State v. Tindall, 388 S.C. 518, 521, 698 S.E.2d 203, 205 (2010).

Discussion

The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution provides that no warrant shall be issued but upon probable cause, supported by oath or affirmation. U.S. Const. amend. IV. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-13-140 (2014) states that a search warrant may be issued to search for and seize property tending to show that a particular person committed a criminal offense. "[S]earch warrants

may be issued 'only upon affidavit sworn to before the magistrate . . . establishing the grounds for the warrant.'" State v. Bellamy, 336 S.C. 140, 143, 519 S.E.2d 347, 348 (1999) (quoting S.C. Code Ann. § 17-13-140). "Oral testimony may also be used in this state to supplement search warrant affidavits which are facially insufficient to establish probable cause." State v. Jones, 342 S.C. 121, 128, 536 S.E.2d 675, 678–79 (2000).

In Carpenter v. United States, 138 S.Ct. 2206 (2018), the Supreme Court held that an individual maintains a legitimate expectation of privacy in the records of his physical movements as captured through CSLI. In this case, there was no exigency involved, and under Carpenter, there was no exception to the government not needing a search warrant supported by a probable cause before it acquired the CSLI and phone records from his wireless carrier.

Cell site records hold for many Americans "the privacies of life." Riley v. California, 573 U.S. ___, ___, 134 S.Ct. 2473, 2494-2495 (2014). That was one major reason the Supreme Court in Carpenter rejected the government's position that CSLI records should be treated under the "third-party doctrine" stemming from the notion that where an individual knowingly shares information with another that he or she has a reduced expectation of privacy. See United States v. Miller, 425 U.S. 435 (1976) (financial records held by a bank); Smith v. Maryland, 442 U.S. 734 (1979). The same cannot be said of CSLI records as is said of bank records because that would be tantamount to holding that because an individual has his or her cell phone turned on that they have knowingly shared all of the details of their present and past whereabouts with law enforcement.

Thus, the issue of a "legitimate expectation of privacy" in Appellant's cell phone records and the CSLI documents have been decided in Appellant's favor for Fourth Amendment purposes. The issue remains whether Judge DeBerry correctly ruled that the affidavit and search warrant process here provided probable cause for the magistrate to determine there was a fair probability

that respondent committed a crime based on information given by individuals the government deemed reliable, and that evidence tending to assist in proving respondent's guilt would be discovered following the issuance of the search warrant.

As seen, the affidavit did not allege Appellant committed any crime. It only stated that it was "reason to believe" that "the subscriber information along with the cell phone records contained vital information to assist with the ongoing investigation." R. Vol. 3, p. 583, lines 3-10. In other words, the police were literally going on a fishing expedition hoping that respondent's cell phone records and CSLI information would provide "vital information to assist with the ongoing investigation." R. Vol. 1, p. 0039, lines 22-24.

Therefore, there can be no assertion that this search warrant affidavit stated there was a fair probability that evidence of a crime would be found in a particular place if the search warrant was issued, since what crime Appellant allegedly committed was not even asserted in the affidavit or warrant. Further, there was also nothing set forth in the affidavit about the identity of the person's records to be searched. During a pretrial motion, counsel read into the record the warrant. Counsel stated:

So let me read this to you, Judge, so you understand kind of where we're going. This is the search warrant that was presented to the magistrate at the time. On December 29th, 2019, at 1:20 a.m., Florence County Sheriff's Office responded to 2711 Pamlico Highway, Florence County, also known as the Greenwood Athletic Park, located within the jurisdiction of Florence County, concerning a suspicious vehicle complaint. Deputies responded to make contact with the vehicle, one 2003 GMC Yukon, SC tag NPK-425, concerning this incident. Deputies observed a black male individual in the driver's seat, appeared to be sleeping. Upon approach, deputies discovered the male individual was unresponsive and bleeding from the left side of his head are, prompting them to call for EMS. The Florence County Coroner's Office was notified, to respond to the scene. Upon further investigation, it appeared that the male sustained a gunshot wound to his head are. Investigators were able to identify the deceased victim as Rashad Maurice Jones of Mullins, South Carolina. During the court of the investigation, Mr. Jones' personal cell phone made contact with the listed number, 1 (704) 777-8982, several times around the time of his death. Investigators have reason to believe that the subscriber information along with the cell phone records contained vital information to assist with the ongoing investigation.

R. Vol. 1, p. 0040, line 3-p. 0041, line 6. The warrant does not allege a crime was committed and does not connect the Appellant to any crime, let alone the death of Mr. Rashad Jones. The Court in Gibbs said that a reason that - - "A person has a reasonable expectation of privacy in CSLI because of the nature is especially revealing." R. Vol. 1, p. 0043, lines 13-16. Appellant's activities by and through his phone records, are protected under both State v. Gibbs and Carpenter v. United States. State v. Gibbs, Unpublished Opinion No. 2020-UP-244. Carpenter v. United States, 138 S. Ct. 2206, 2217 (2018).

In State v. Gibbs, the Defendant was charged with murder in Horry County. At a motion to suppress hearing prior to trial, Judge Hyman refused to allow the Defendant's cell phone records to be introduced pursuant to a search warrant obtained by the police. R. Vol. 1, p. 0039, lines 17-24. The warrant in Gibbs, alleged that:

The phone number to be searched belonged to Javon Gibbs, who has been identified as many -- by being involved with the victim's disappearance based on drug-related incidents before his disappearance. The male denied any allegations that identified that he did not want to provide a DNA sample or take a polygraph to exclude himself. It is my belief that searching the records Javon Gibbs will provide information regarding any contact with the victim and his whereabouts during the date and time of the crime.

R. Vol. 1, p. 0041, line 22-p. 0042, line 6. The appellate court upheld the decision of Judge Hyman and determined the search warrant to be invalid and the South Carolina Supreme Court denied cert. R. Vol. 1, p. 0042, lines 7-9. The State conceded that the Gibbs warrant does not survive yet claims the warrant in this case does survive as sufficient. When in fact, this warrant is substantially more deficient than the warrant in Gibbs. The warrant's affidavit in Gibbs, goes further than the warrant at issue here. The Gibb's warrant alleges that there was a bad act that occurred and that the two men had problems with each other. R. Vol. 1, p. 0042, lines 13-15. Just as in this case, the warrant in Gibbs does not allege Gibbs committed a crime. R. Vol. 1, p. 0044, lines 5-8.

Under Gibbs, “a person has a reasonable expectation of privacy in CSLI because of the nature is especially revealing.” State v. Gibbs, Unpublished Opinion No. 2020-UP-244. R. Vol. 1, p. 0043, lines 14-16. The Court goes even further in **Carpenter** and states that “timestamp data provides an intimate window into a person’s life, revealing not only his particular movements but, through them, his familial, political, professional, religious, and sexual associations.” Carpenter v. United States, 138 S. Ct. 2206, 2217 (2018). R. Vol.1, p. 0043, lines 17-21.

If the Court determined that the search warrant is facially insufficient to establish probable cause, the court can look to oral testimony. Jones, 342 S.C. at 128, 536 S.E.2d at 678–79 (“Oral testimony may also be used in this state to supplement search warrant affidavits [that] are facially insufficient to establish probable cause.”). This was a concerted effort to deceive the tribunal. The prosecutor, as an officer of the Court, has a duty to the tribunal to be truthful and forthcoming. Not only did the prosecutor elicit false testimony, but he did so intentionally and with complete disregard to the tribunal and the role of the justice system. The prosecutor knew before he made his arguments to the Court, he intended on portraying false information to the Court. The prosecutor knew when the search warrant was issued and when the records were received. The prosecutor knew the law and knew the representation of supplemented oral testimony for the search warrant was his only hope of not having the phone records suppressed. The prosecutor knew the information regarding Skipthegames was not obtained prior to seeking the search warrant and could not have possibly been provided to Judge Wall to support the procurement of the search warrant for the Appellant’s phone records. The prosecutor was untruthful in telling the Court that,

Furthermore, Judge, at that time, Investigator Edwards believed, based on his training and his experience – considerable experience, that this this crime may be sexual in nature, and that was based on that there was a condom in the car, Vaseline in the car, the victim’s pants were unzipped. So he went to an investigator at the sheriff’s office who specializes in sex crimes, and they used an application called Spotlight. This is a common tool used by investigators and used by SLED. Basically, it’s a search engine for sex-related sites. And

they typed that 704 number that was on the victim's cell phone records into that Spotlight, and they get an advertisement, about ten days prior to the murder, from that 704 number advertising for sex for sale on SkipTheGames. Investigator Edwards also relayed that information to Judge Wall.

R. Vol. 1, p. 0050, lines 3-19. The investigator may have believed the crime was sexual in nature, however, any insinuation that Investigator Edwards told Judge Wall about the SkipTheGames add in support of the search warrant for the phone records was false. The prosecutor, after portraying the above false information to the Court, then proceeds to elicit false testimony from Investigator Edwards during the pretrial motion to suppress. The prosecutor asked Investigator Edwards "did you ask her to enter that number, that (704) 777-8982 number into her Spotlight database?" in which Investigator Edwards responded "yes." R. Vol. 1, p. 0062, lines 3-5. The prosecutor proceeded to ask Investigator Edwards if he "was able to retrieve an ad associated to that phone number for sex?" R. Vol. 1, p. 0062, lines 6-7. Investigator Edwards affirmed and then affirmed the prosecutor's inquiry that the ad was posted approximately ten days before the murder. R. Vol. 1, p. 0062, lines 9-10. The prosecutor then asked Investigator Edwards, "Based on all that information, did you go to Judge Wall to obtain a search warrant for that telephone number?" R. Vol. 1, p. 0062, lines 11-12. Investigator Edward's response was "Yes sir." R. Vol. 1, p. 0062, lines 13. The prosecutor continued to elicit false testimony from Investigator Edwards on direct examination through the following exchange during the pretrial motion.

Q Was Judge Wall -- did she require you to provide more information?

A Yes, sir. Each encounter, I went to the office with my case file. Every new detail, document she was made aware of and also was shown -- you know, was shown to her during the investigation.

Q So she was made aware of the Spotlight information?

A Yes, sir.

Q And the Spotlight information was related to that 704 number?

A Yes, sir.

Q And all of that was provided and then a search warrant was granted; is that correct?

A Yes, sir.

R. Vol. 1, p. 0062, lines 1-11, 17-19. It is an impossibility for Investigator Edwards to have informed Judge Wall, at the time he sought the search warrant and got it signed from her, as he testified, that he showed her the SkipTheGames ad because he did not find out about the SkipTheGames ad until 3 days after seeking and obtaining the search warrant.

During cross-examination, Investigator Edwards was asked when the search warrant was issued. R. Vol. 1, p. 0066, lines 24-25. Investigator Edwards advised the court "January 13th." R. Vol. 1, p. 0067, line 1. However, under oath, Investigator Edward's read into the record his report dated January 16, 2020, in which his report stated "I, Investigator Edwards, along with Investigator Clark, reviewed Antonio Brayboy's cell phone and discovered Mr. Brayboy was also on SkipTheGames web site during the same time frame as the male victim, Rashad Maurice Jones. Investigator Clark discovered Mr. Brayboy had an ad posted on SkipTheGames and provided the information to this investigator." R. Vol. 1, p. 0072, lines 11-17.

On January 13, 2020, Investigator Edwards obtained the search warrant for Appellant's phones records. On January 16, 2020, Investigator Edwards received the phone records for Appellant, at which time, the investigator reviewed Appellants records and "discovered Mr. Brayboy was also on the "Skip the Games" website during the same time frame as the male victim." During the pretrial motion to suppress the phone records, the investigator took the stand and claimed otherwise, the investigator along with the state, claimed that the Appellant's connection to Skip the Games was discovered prior to obtaining the search warrant for the phone records and relayed to the magistrate judge to support the affidavit for the phone records. A clear misrepresentation portrayed to the Court and later to Jury. The State, therefore, attempted to bolster the information provided to the magistrate by attempting to claim that the investigator was aware of additional contact between the victim and the Appellant.

"A warrant is supported by probable cause if, given the totality of the circumstances set forth in the affidavit, there is a fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found" State v. Kinloch, 410 S.C. 612, 617, 767 S.E.2d 153, 155 (2014). Nevertheless, our supreme court held that the affidavits must set forth facts as to why police believe the defendant was the individual to commit the charged crime. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. at 51, 625 S.E.2d at 221. The Court has said that "the duty of the reviewing court, which is this Court in this case, is to ensure that the issuing magistrate had a substantial basis upon which to conclude that probable cause existed. The passing upon the validity of a warrant and reviewing court may consider only information brought to the magistrate's attention." R. Vol. 1, p. 0043, line 22-p. 0044, line 4. State v. Owen, 275 S.C. 586, 588, 274 S.E.2d 510, 511 (1981), abrogated on other grounds by Gates, 462 U.S. at 238. Even further, the Court has said, "the affidavit must set forth facts as to why the police believe the defendant was the individual to commit the crime, not simply that a crime was even committed." R. Vol. 1, p. 0044, lines 12-17. At the pretrial motion to suppress the Appellant's phone records, counsel presented a clear comparison to this matter and the matter of State v. Gibbs, affirmed by this Court and Cert. denied by the South Carolina Supreme Court. When compared, the warrant in this matter is substantially more deficient than the warrant in the Gibbs case. The warrant in this matter specifically states:

On December 29th, 2019, at 1:30 a.m., Florence County Sheriff's Office responded to 2711 Pamplico Highway, Florence County, also known as the Greenwood Athletic Park, located within the jurisdiction of Florence County, concerning a suspicious vehicle complaint. Deputies responded to make contact with the vehicle, one 2003 GMC Yukon, SC tag NPK-425, concerning this incident. Deputies observed a black male individual in the driver's seat, appeared to be sleeping. Upon approach, deputies discovered the male individual was unresponsive and bleeding from the left side of his head area, prompting them to call for EMS. The Florence County Coroner's Office was notified, along with investigators with the sheriff's office, to respond to the scene. Upon further investigation, it appeared that the male sustained a gunshot wound to his head area. Investigators were able to identify the deceased victim as Rashad Maurice Jones of Mullins, South Carolina. During the

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