RECEIVED

Mar 18 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

Appeal from Florence County
The Honorable Steven H. DeBerry, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

ANTONIO DENON BRAYBOY,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2023-001182

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

J. ANTHONY MABRY
Senior Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 11973

Office of the Attorney General
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211-1549
(803) 734-6305

HON. EDGAR L. CLEMENTS, III
Solicitor, Twelfth Judicial Circuit

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

Brayboy told Cooper things about the murder that had not been disclosed publicly. If the State had not already obtained Brayboy's CSLI, it would have obtained it then through a search warrant including Asia Cooper's new information in the affidavit in October of 2020. Id.

Finally, the exclusionary rule would not apply. "[T]he sole purpose of the exclusionary rule is to deter misconduct by law enforcement." Davis v. United States, 564 U.S. 229, 246 (2011); Hudson v. Michigan, 547 U.S. 586, 591 (2006) *see also* State v. Moore, 429 S.C. 465, 478, 839 S.E.2d 882, 889 (2020)(same); State v. Sachs, 264 S.C. 541, 566, 216 S.E.2d 501, 514 (1975). Exclusion is not automatic; it is a last resort. Id. In Davis, the United States Supreme Court concluded the officers who conducted the search did not violate Davis's Fourth Amendment rights "deliberately, recklessly, or with gross negligence." Id. at 240, 131 S.Ct. 2419. "Where there is no misconduct and no deterrent purpose to be served, suppression of the evidence is an unduly harsh sanction." State v. Adams, 409 S.C. 641, 653, 763 S.E.2d 341, 348 (2014); United States v. Calandra, 414 U.S. 338, 347 (1974) (prime purpose of the exclusionary rule is to deter future unlawful police conduct). *See* State v. Warner, 430 S.C. 76, 92–94, 842 S.E.2d 361, 369–70 (Ct. App. 2020)(finding the exclusionary rule would not apply), *aff'd in part and remanded* State v. Warner, 436 S.C. 395, 872 S.E.2d 638 (2022)(remanding to determine if CSLI warrant was supplemented and if not for the trial court to determine if the exclusionary rule should apply)).³ Here, Chief Edwards properly sought a search warrant before obtaining the phone records, subscriber information, and CSLI, and there was no police misconduct. The exclusionary rule should not apply. Warner.

³ In Warner, Justice Hearn wrote a dissenting opinion in which she concurred with this Court and would have found remand was unnecessary because the exclusionary rule should not apply.

Harmless Error

Furthermore, the admission of the CSLI was harmless on this record. Brayboy's record of phone calls to the victim were admissible in any event as was the fact (704) 777-8982 was Brayboy's phone number. The State had the victim's phone records which showed the phone calls between the victim and Brayboy shortly before the victim's death. Brayboy's record of phone calls was also not subject to the Fourth Amendment. Nor was Brayboy's subscriber information. Further, Brayboy admitted in a form he filled out upon arrest that (704) 777-8982 was his phone number. Asia Cooper also identified that number as Brayboy's number to Chief Edwards. The State could show through independent evidence that Brayboy took the victim's phone and the victim's phone pinged in the path toward Lake City. And, the State still had Brayboy's confession to committing the murder to Asia Cooper that would have been before the jury. The admission of the CSLI was harmless given the other evidence of Brayboy's guilt. State v. Drayton, 415 S.C. 43, 780 S.E.2d 902 (2015)(Any error in issuance of warrant for CSLI was harmless given defendant's guilt was conclusively proven by other competent evidence).

Argument II.

The trial court did not err in allowing Lieutenant Jade Roy of SLED to testify to how the Spotlight search engine is used by law enforcement and did not err in allowing Investigator Angel Clark of the Florence County Sheriff's Office to testify to how she used Spotlight resulting in identifying Brayboy's phone number with an ad on the website "Skipthegames."

What occurred below

As previously stated, due to the sexual nature of the crime, Chief Edwards sent the (704) 777-8982 phone number [Appellant's phone number] appearing on the victim's phone records to SLED investigators specializing in sex crimes and sex trafficking. SLED Agent Jade Roy explained the (704) 777-8982 phone number was entered into a search engine for sex-related sites referred to as Spotlight, only accessible to investigators conducting these types of investigations.

(R. 382, 385). The Spotlight data base searches approximately eight (8) to nine (9) different online sexual escort commercial sex web sites where an individual posts an ad seeking someone to pay for sexual activity. (R. 382-83). To search for information on Spotlight, phone numbers, email addresses, pictures, etc., can be used to gather information from different escort sites, whether or not the ad has been previously deleted. (R. 383). Agent Roy testified the search engine Spotlight is more accurate when a phone number or e-mail address is entered. (R. 387, ll. 5-8). SLED Agent Roy and Investigator Angel Clark of the Florence County Sheriff's Office separately entered the (704) 777-8982 phone number into the search engine database and Spotlight generated an advertisement from a site referred to as "Skipthegames" that was connected to and listed the (704) 777-8982 number [Appellant's number]. (R. 385). The advertisement, which was a male advertising himself as a male prostitute for women, was entered into evidence. (R. 411, State's Exhibits 112, 98-103; Court's Ex. 2). Investigators requested information related to the ad and the 704-phone number from "Skipthegames," however an agent of the website indicated that there was no record of any information related to that number, suggesting that the ad had been taken down. (R. 388, 393). Later, after the State rested, upon further inquiry, law enforcement received an e-mail and certification from "Skipthegames" confirming that the ad had been created originally December 19, 2019, using Brayboy's e-mail address [brayboy.antonio89@yahoo.com] and then on December 30, 2019, shortly after the murder of the victim, the user erased that phone number from the account. (R. 507-12; Court's Ex. 2). While Judge DeBerry denied the State's motion to reopen the record to present this record and information to the jury, he did allow the State to mark the e-mail and certification as an exhibit for this Court's review regarding his decision to admit the advertisement itself. (R. 507-12; Court's Ex. 2).

During the trial of the case, the State called as a witness Brayboy's former girlfriend Asia Cooper who testified Brayboy confessed to her that he had murdered the victim in this case. (R. 427-449). Among other things Brayboy told her was the fact that he had met the victim before the murder on an internet escort website. (R. 430, ll. 16-18; 431, ll. 3-5; 447, ll. 8-11).

During the trial, the State also proved through Brayboy's phone records and subscriber information, and Chief Edwards testimony, that Brayboy's telephone number was (704) 777-8982, the same number listed on the advertisement. (R. 464; 289-350).

On appeal to this Court and below, Brayboy objected to the admission of the advertisement on the grounds the advertisement was not sufficiently authenticated. (R. 254-64; 279-88; IBOA, pp. 12-18). Prior to the admission of this evidence, the State proffered the testimony of SLED Agent Roy regarding how the State was able to locate the advertisement using Spotlight, a law enforcement search engine, by typing in and searching Brayboy's telephone number. (R. 264-78). Agent Roy testified he regularly uses Spotlight and has since 2018. (R. 266-67). Agent Roy explained what Spotlight is, when it was formed and by whom, its purpose, and how it works. (R. 265-66). Agent Roy explained it monitors approximately nine (9) different commercial sex advertisement sites which law enforcement officers can enter information in the search engine and obtain a result if a certain person, phone number, or e-mail address is linked to one (1) of those websites. (R. 266-67). One (1) of those websites that Spotlight monitors is "Skipthegames." Agent Roy testified Brayboy's phone number was entered into the Spotlight search engine, and it generated an advertisement from "Skipthegames" linked directly to and listing Brayboy's phone number. (R. 267-68). Agent Roy explained the advertisement was first posted on 6:22 p.m., December 19, 2019, roughly ten (10) days before the murder. The advertisement indicated it was from Florence, South Carolina. (R. 268). And a search of Brayboy's phone number in Spotlight

yielded the advertisement in January of 2020 and again shortly before trial. (R. 266-269). After hearing argument on the objection, Judge DeBerry overruled the objection and admitted the advertisement. (R. 286-88). Thereafter, Agent Roy and Investigator Angel Clark testified how police were able to find the ad, through Spotlight, and a copy of the advertisement was admitted in evidence. (R. 380-407; 409-16; State’s Ex. 112, 98-103).

Analysis

The burden of authenticating evidence is not high, and a party need not rule out any possibility the evidence is not authentic. State v. Gray, 438 S.C. 130, 882 S.E.2d 469 (Ct. App. 2022), reh’g denied (Jan. 23, 2023), cert. denied (Oct. 3, 2023); *see also* State v. Green, 427 S.C. 223, 230, 830 S.E.2d 711, 714 (Ct. App. 2019) (citation omitted), *aff’d as modified*, 432 S.C. 97, 851 S.E.2d 440 (2020). “The trial judge acts as the authentication gatekeeper, and a party may open the gate by laying a foundation from which a reasonable juror could find the evidence is what the party claims.” Gray, 438 S.C. 130, 882 S.E.2d 469. A witness with knowledge may authenticate evidence by testifying that “a matter is what it is claimed to be.” Gray, 438 S.C. 130, 882 S.E.2d 469; *See* Rule 901(b)(1), SCRE. Or circumstantial evidence or the circumstances of the writing and the circumstances surrounding the writing may be sufficient to authenticate a document. State v. Benton, 435 S.C. 250, 865 S.E.2d 919 (Ct. App. 2021); Green, 427 S.C. 223, 830 S.E.2d 711; State v. Hall, 437 S.C. 107, 876 S.E.2d 328 (Ct. App. 2022).

More narrowly, the method at issue here [Spotlight] is:

(9) Process or System. Evidence describing a process or system used to produce a result and showing that the process or system produces an accurate result.

Rule 901(b)(9), SCRE. “As recognized by the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals, ‘Any concerns about the reliability of such machine-generated information is addressed through the process of authentication’” State v. Brown, 424 S.C. 479, 489, 818 S.E.2d 735, 741 (2018) (citing United

States v. Washington, 498 F.3d 225, 231 (4th Cir. 2007)). “[A] foundation must be established for the information through authentication, which Federal Rule of Evidence 901(b)(9) allows such proof to be authenticated by evidence ‘describing [the] process or system used to produce [the] result’ and showing it ‘produces an accurate result.’” Brown, 424 S.C. at 489-90, 818 S.E.2d at 741 (citing Washington, 498 F.3d at 231).

The State must make some showing to authenticate the records, however no elaborate showing of the accuracy of the recorded data is required. Brown, 424 S.C. at 490, 818 S.E.2d at 741 (citing People v. Rodriguez, 16 Cal.App.5th 355, 224 Cal.Rptr.3d 295, 309 (2017)). A witness testifying to the method of the referenced process need not be an expert but should have experience with the system used and provide testimony describing the system, the process of generating or obtaining the information, and how this process has produced accurate results for the particular device or data at issue. Brown, 424 S.C. at 492, 818 S.E.2d at 742. *See, e.g.*, United States v. Brooks, 715 F.3d 1069, 1077–79 (8th Cir. 2013) (affirming, as to the specific device's accuracy, that the GPS records were authenticated because the Government's witness “had been trained by the company, he knew how the device worked, ... he had demonstrated the device for customers dozens of times,” other testimony confirmed the device's accuracy, and any brief lapse in the device's transmission was explained); United States v. Espinal-Almeida, 699 F.3d 588, 612–13 (1st Cir. 2012) (stating “[t]he issues surrounding the processes employed by the GPS and software, and their accuracy, were not so scientifically or technologically grounded that expert testimony was required to authenticate the evidence, and thus the testimony of ... someone knowledgeable, trained, and experienced in analyzing GPS devices, was sufficient to authenticate the GPS data and software generated evidence” given the “testimony about the processes employed by both the GPS and the software”); Rodriguez, 224 Cal.Rptr.3d at 309–10 (holding the GPS data was properly

authenticated through the sergeant's testimony as he “testified about his familiarity and knowledge of how the ankle monitor transmitted defendant's location through GPS data, the computer software used to track the ankle monitor and the GPS data, and how the GPS report was generated” as well as “testified about the accuracy and reliability of the GPS report generated from the ankle monitor's signals”); State v. Kandutsch, 336 Wis.2d 478, 799 N.W.2d 865, 875–76 (2011) superseded by statute on different grounds, Wis. Stat. § 907.02, as recognized in In re Commitment of Jones, 381 Wis.2d 284, 911 N.W.2d 97 (2018) (finding “the State was permitted to authenticate and lay a foundation for the EMD report by providing testimony describing the electronic monitoring system and the process by which the daily summary reports are generated and showing that this process produces an accurate result” through the department of correction's agents, who were familiar with its operation and testified regarding the installation of the specific device and its accuracy).

Brayboy raised the issue regarding Lieutenant Roy and Investigator Clark’s testimony describing how the Spotlight search engine is used, which ultimately connected Brayboy’s phone number to an advertisement on an escort website called “Skipthegames” taken out approximately a week before the murder. Brayboy argues that Lieutenant Roy and Investigator Clark’s testimonies are insufficient to authenticate the advertisement. Brayboy is wrong.

After hearing Lieutenant Roy’s proffered testimony, the Court allowed the testimony, noting that Brayboy was allowed to argue issues of unreliability to the jury and cross-examine the witnesses as such. The Court did not abuse its discretion.

The State presented sufficient evidence to meet the low bar of authentication that the advertisement is what it proposed to be, an advertisement on an internet website “Skipthegames” wherein an individual was advertising as a male prostitute for women and listed the number (704)

777-8982 as contact information. Benton, 435 S.C. 250, 865 S.E.2d 919. Not only was the advertisement sufficiently authenticated by Agent Jade Roy and Investigator Angel Clark through their testimony (R. 264-78; 380-407;409-16), but the State supported the authentication with phone records and subscriber information showing this number belonged to Brayboy, a form filled out by Brayboy showing this phone number was his phone number, and the testimony of Asia Cooper that Brayboy admitted to her that he met the victim, before he murdered the victim, on an internet escort website. (R. 430, ll. 16-18; 431, ll. 3-5; 447, ll. 8-11). Benton; Green, 427 S.C. 223, 830 S.E.2d 711; Hall, 437 S.C. 107, 876 S.E.2d 328. Finally, the certification from “Skipthegames” marked as Court’s Ex. 2 shows Judge DeBerry did not err in admitting the advertisement because it was authentic. (Court’s Ex. 2).

Harmless Error

Regardless, to the extent the admission of the advertisement was erroneous, it was harmless because the advertisement was cumulative to Asia Cooper’s testimony that Brayboy told her that he met the victim on an internet escort website before he murdered the victim. (R. 430, ll. 16-18; 431, ll. 3-5; 447, ll. 8-11). State v. Benton, 435 S.C. 250, 865 S.E.2d 919 (Ct. App. 2021)(“To the extent the admission of the Facebook messages was erroneous, we find it harmless because the messages were cumulative to Cheatham’s testimony he began to plan the burglaries with Benton in late March and early April.”)(citing State v. Martucci, 380 S.C. 232, 261, 669 S.E.2d 598, 614 (Ct. App. 2008)(“The admission of improper evidence is harmless where the evidence is merely cumulative to other evidence.”); State v. Brown, 424 S.C. 479, 818 S.E.2d 735 (2018)(finding error in admission of evidence without proper authentication was harmless given the other evidence of defendant’s guilt). The State also proved the victim was talking with Brayboy before he was murdered; Brayboy was at the crime scene at the time of the murder; and, Brayboy

confessed to his former girlfriend he committed the murder and gave details of the murder only the killer would know. Any admission of the advertisement containing Brayboy's phone number was harmless.

ARGUMENT III.

Judge DeBerry did not err in denying the motion for a directed verdict as the State sufficiently corroborated Brayboy's confession under the law.

What occurred below

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